IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY, CASE NO.: 81,691

Petitioner,

v.

SUSAN GAIL JENKINS,

Respondent.

> MELVIN B. WRIGHT, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 559857 DAVID B. FALSTAD, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 722456 GURNEY & HANDLEY, P.A. Post Office Box 1273 Orlando, Florida 32802 (407) 843-9500 Attorneys for Petitioner.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

October 15, 1988, JENKINS was involved in a motor vehicle accident and sustained injuries. At the time, she occupied a 1988 Toyota that she owned and which was insured with personal injury protection coverage only through Progressive Insurance Company. The 1977 Toyota was not covered by any GEICO policy of insurance. (R 3-4, 29-31, 63-69, 112-116, 156-157, 167-168, 198-200).

JENKINS is the daughter of William J. Beairsto, Jr., and lived at his residence in Brevard County, Florida at the time of the accident. (R 3-4, 29-31, 63-69, 112-116, 156-157, 167-168, 198-200). On the date of the accident, Mr. Beairsto had an automobile insurance policy in effect. The policy of insurance was issued by GEICO and was effective from September 20, 1988 to March 20, 1989. The GEICO policy insured two motor vehicles, a 1985 Oldsmobile and a 1984 Isuzu. It provided for UM coverage in limits of \$100,000 per person. Accordingly, for Class I insureds, a total of \$200,000 in stacked UM benefits was available under this traditional stacking GEICO policy. The 1977 Toyota was not insured by GEICO. (R 29-62, 63-100, 205-214, 220-221, 222-311).

The insurance policy issued to Mr. Beairsto by GEICO was a standard GEICO policy. The liability portion provided as follows:

PERSONS INSURED Who is Covered

Section I applies to the following as insureds with regard to an owned auto:

you and your relatives;

2. any other person using the auto with your permission. The action use must be within the scope of that permission;

3. any other person or organization for his or its liability because of acts or omissions of an insured under 1 or 2 above.

Section I applies to the following with regard to a non-owned vehicle:

1. you and your relatives when using a private passenger auto or trailer. Such use must be within the permission, or reasonably believed to be with the permission, of the owner and within the scope of that permission;

2. a person or organization, not owning or hiring the auto, regarding his or its liability because of acts or omissions of an insured under 1 above.

The limits of liability stated in the declarations are our maximum obligations regardless of the number of insureds involved in the occurrence.

An "owned" auto is defined in the policy as the vehicle named in the policy; a "non-owned" auto is defined as an automobile not owned by the named insured or any of his relatives (R 3-5, 29-62, 63-100).

After properly settling her claim with the tortfeasor's liability insurance carrier for its \$10,000 in liability insurance limits, JENKINS submitted a claim for UM benefits under her father's GEICO policy. (R 198-200). GEICO denied coverage relying on the following exclusion in the UM portion of its policy:

> "Bodily injury to an insured while occupying or through being struck by an uninsured auto owned by an insured or a relative is not covered." (R 3-5, 29-62, 63-100).

In July of 1991, GEICO filed its Complaint for Declaratory Relief requesting the Court to grant a decree establishing that JENKINS was not entitled to UM coverage for injuries sustained in the accident. JENKINS answered and counter-claimed for bodily injury damages and UM benefits. (R 29-62, 63-100).

During the course of the litigation, the parties essentially stipulated to the pertinent facts, and it was agreed that, if UM coverage existed, JENKINS was entitled to the full \$200,000 in available UM benefits provided by the GEICO policy. (R 3-4, 9, 29-31, 63-69, 112-116, 156-157, 167-168, 198-200). JENKINS deposed Vicki Mercer of GEICO and Larry Hunt of State Farm Insurance Company and also filed an Affidavit by Mr. Beairsto. (R 220-221). GEICO filed a certified copy of Mr. Beairsto's insurance policy with GEICO as well as the Affidavit of Vicki Mercer with attached UM coverage selection and rejection forms utilized by GEICO before and after subject accident. (R 205-214, 222-311).

In January of 1992, the trial court issued its order ruling that the legislative staff summaries concerning the 1987 amendment were proper sources for the court to consider in ascertaining legislative intent. The trial court ruled that it would take judicial notice of the legislative staff summaries in the event that it was determined that an ambiguity in the statute existed. (R 125-155, 201-202). Vicki Mercer's affidavit merely established that GEICO utilized UM rejection and selection forms approved by the Florida Department of Insurance. (R 222, 311).

Both parties moved for Summary Judgment, and a hearing was held on March 25, 1992. GEICO relied upon <u>Government Employees</u> <u>Insurance Company v. Wright</u>, 543 So.2d 1320 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) rev. denied 551 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1989). <u>GEICO v. Wright</u> was decided in 1989 on identical facts and policy language.¹ (R 215-216, 312-321). JENKINS relied upon <u>Carbonell v. Automobile Insurance</u> <u>Company</u>, 562 So.2d 437 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) arguing that the 1987 amendment, §627.727(9), Florida Statutes, required Mr. Beairsto to select in writing the particular exclusionary language relied upon by GEICO. (R 218-219).

At the hearing on the Motions for Summary Judgment, JENKINS also argued that <u>GEICO v. Wright</u> was incorrectly decided and should not be followed by the trial court. Alternatively, JENKINS argued that the 1987 amendment and <u>Carbonell</u> required written selection of GEICO's exclusionary language, thus <u>GEICO v. Wright</u> did not control post-1987 amendment policies of insurance. (R 9-20). GEICO argued that <u>GEICO v. Wright</u> was correctly decided and controlled because the 1987 amendment was applicable only to the newly authorized nonstacking UM policies authorized by the 1987 amendment. (R 3-8, 21-24).

On April 9, 1992, the trial court granted JENKINS' Motion for Summary Judgment and denied GEICO's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R 322-323). A Final Judgment was entered on April 16, 1992. (R 324-

¹ The 1987 non-stacking amendment to the UM statute, \$627.727(9), Florida Statues, in effect when Mr. Beairsto's GEICO policy was issued, was not in effect at the time the policy was issued by GEICO in GEICO v. Wright.

325). The court relied upon <u>Carbonell</u> and the 1987 UM coverage amendment, §627.727(9), Florida Statutes. The trial court held that GEICO's exclusion was ineffective because no UM coverage selection form was executed by Mr. Beairsto. (R 322-323).

GEICO timely appealed the Court's Judgment to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. While this appeal was pending, the Fifth District issued <u>Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company v.</u> <u>Phillips</u>, 609 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), <u>review accepted</u>, Case No. 80,986. The Fifth District precarium affirmed the Judgment of the trial court in this case with a citation to <u>Phillips</u>. <u>Government Employees Insurance Company v. Jenkins</u>, 616 So.2d 486 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), <u>review accepted</u>, Case No. 81,691.

This Honorable Court accepted review of <u>Nationwide</u> and set Oral Argument for October 5, 1993. On the same date, this Court accepted review of <u>Welker v. World Wide Underwriter's Insurance</u> <u>Company</u>, 601 So.2d 572 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), <u>review granted</u>, Case No. 80,478 and also set Oral Argument for that case for October 5, 1993. This Court's grant of review of <u>Phillips</u> was evidently based upon the Fifth District's statement of conflict with the decision in <u>Government Employees Insurance Company v. Wright</u>, 543 So.2d 1320 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) <u>review denied</u>, 551 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1989). This Court subsequently accepted review of the instant case but elected not to order Oral Argument herein.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ENFORCE THE UNINSURED MOTORIST EXCLUSION IN THE GEICO POLICY.
 - A. WHETHER THE UNINSURED MOTORIST CONCLUSION CONTAINED IN THE SUBJECT POLICY IS VALID AND ENFORCEABLE.
 - B. WHETHER THE 1987 AMENDMENT TO THE UNINSURED MOTORIST STATUTE INVALIDATES THAT UNINSURED MOTORIST EXCLUSION CONTAINED IN THE SUBJECT POLICY.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), the Florida Supreme Court held that where an insurance policy affords basic liability coverage to a resident relative, the insurer is not permitted to exclude uninsured motorist (UM) coverage to the resident relative under the same policy. The Court referenced the Financial Responsibility Law, Section 324.021, requiring liability coverage for the owner of any vehicle named in the policy and any permissive operator of said vehicle, and also requires the policy to insure that named insured for liability for damages arising out of the use by the named insured of any motor vehicle not owned by him within the territorial limits described within the statute. The Court stated that the persons insured under such a liability policy would ordinarily be the owner or operator of the automobile, his spouse and other members of his family residing in his household, as well as others occupying the insured automobile with the owner's The Mullis court did not hold that all resident permission. relatives of the named insured were as a matter of law to be considered Class I insureds entitled to both liability and UM coverage without regard to whether the Financial Responsibility Law of the clear terms of the policy provide such broad coverage.

In <u>Valiant Insurance Company v. Webster</u>, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990), this Court clarified that <u>Mullis</u> provides that an insured is entitled to UM coverage if the liability portions of an insurance policy would apply to a particular accident.

Courts construing <u>Mullis</u> have recognized that relatives residing with the named insured do no automatically come within the coverage of the liability and UM portion of the named insured's policy. The courts have recognized that where the plain language of the insurance policy defining who is an insured under the policy does not extend coverage to resident relatives who own their own vehicles or who are injured while driving their vehicles not referenced in the policy, they are not provided with basic liability insurance and therefore can properly be excluded from UM coverage.

The courts have construed Mullis to hold that where one portion of the liability provisions of the policy extends coverage broadly to all resident relatives without limitation and another portion of the liability section of the policy limits coverage, the The subject resident relative is broader section controls. therefore entitled to UM coverage even if the policy contains language demonstrating that liability coverage would not have been available for the subject accident. In light of language to the contrary in the more recent case of Valiant, the validity of this statement of law is in question. In any event, it is clear that where no provision in the policy even implies that the claimant is an insured for liability purposes while driving his own vehicle not described in the policy, there is no basis for finding him or her to be an insured for liability purposes and therefore no obligation of the insurer to provide UM coverage. The thrust of Mullis is that UM coverage follows liability coverage, and under the

circumstances of the instant case, there is nothing for the UM coverage to follow. The courts have recognized that under such circumstances <u>Mullis</u> is inapplicable.

In <u>Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company v. Phillips</u>, 609 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) <u>review accepted</u>, Case No. 80,986, the Fifth District Court of Appeal erred in holding that a resident relative of the named insured will be treated as an insured under the UM portion of the policy even where neither the definitions section of the liability portion nor any other section of the liability portion brings the resident relative under the liability coverage under circumstances in which he is operating his own vehicle not mentioned in the declarations section of the policy.

Permitting an insurance carrier to limit the definition of insured (in keeping with the Financial Responsibility Law) so as not to include resident relatives who own and operate their own motor vehicles is consistent with the <u>Mullis</u> holding and is also proper public policy. Resident relatives of the named insured who own and operate their own automobiles are obligated to maintain insurance coverage upon their automobiles that they own and operate. When they obtain such insurance, they will be provided with UM coverage unless they knowingly reject it. It is noteworthy that if the insurance carrier for the named insured is obligated to provide resident relatives with UM coverage for which no insured has bargained or paid, the resident relative is at the mercy of the named insured's decision to knowingly reject such UM coverage. The resident relative's protection is to be found through their status

as insureds under the policies which they are obligated to purchase to cover their own automobiles. As the Fourth and Third District Courts of Appeal have observed, a contrary holding makes it impossible for the insurer to determine its exposure for insurance that extends to all manner of unknown automobiles owned by the named insured's relatives and permitting these relatives to operate uninsured vehicles upon the highways. The approach advocated by Respondents in the Fifth District Court of Appeal would allow the incongruous result that a resident relative could choose to operate his vehicle with no insurance coverage whatsoever and still enjoy UM coverage under the named insured's policy while providing members of the public no protection from his own negligence.

Additionally, the protection which Respondent advocates is seriously limited by the fact that the named insured can remove this protection by knowingly rejecting UM coverage. The protection for the resident relatives not included under the named insured's liability policy is in their right to accept or reject UM coverage under their own policies.

The 1984 amendment to §627.727(1) further demonstrates that the UM statute is intended to limit required UM coverage to policies insurance specific vehicles, rather than requiring UM coverage for the protection of persons insured under <u>any</u> motor liability policy. Rather, the statute requires only that UM coverage be provided for persons insured under liability policies covering specifically-insured or identified motor vehicles. The 1984 amendment further illustrates that UM coverage is the

reciprocal of liability coverage provided by the Financial Responsibility Law.

The 1987 amendment to the UM statute, providing that insureds can select certain UM limitations, does not invalidate the subject UM exclusion. The structure of the statute makes clear that Section 627.727(9) applies to permit a "package deal" in which the insured elects a non-stacking policy which includes the UM exclusion at issue here. Section 627.727(9) does not apply to a traditional stacking policy such as that found in the present case. Furthermore, the case law indicates that Section 627.727(9) does not impose an additional requirement for the validation of a UM exclusion which is valid under Mullis.

ARGUMENT

A. WHETHER THE UNINSURED MOTORIST CONCLUSION CONTAINED IN THE SUBJECT POLICY IS VALID AND ENFORCEABLE.

A discussion of the validity of the subject UM exclusion logically begins with a discussion of <u>Mullis v. State Farm Mutual</u> <u>Automobile Insurance Company</u>, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), which is recognized as the "polestar" case regarding validity of UM exclusions. In <u>Mullis</u>, this court held that where an insurance policy affords liability coverage to a resident relative, the insurer is not permitted to exclude UM coverage to the resident relative under the same policy. Accordingly, a provision in the UM portion of a policy excluding coverage for injuries suffered by an insured while occupying a vehicle not named in the policy was void and unenforceable.

In <u>Mullis</u>, Richard Mullis, the resident son of State Farm's insured, Shelby Mullis, was injured by the negligence of an uninsured motorist, while operating a Honda motorcycle which was owned by his mother, and not insured under State Farm's policy. Mullis demanded arbitration under State Farm's policy. State Farm refused arbitration. State Farm's UM coverage provided that the company would pay all sums which the insured was legally entitled to recover as damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured automobile because of bodily injuries sustained by the insured and caused by an accident with the uninsured automobile. State Farm's policy defined the term "insured" to mean the first person named in the declarations and while residents of this household, his spouse and the relatives of either. <u>Id.</u> at 231.² State Farm's policy contained Exclusion (b) which read as follows:

Insuring Agreement III does not apply:

(b) To bodily injury to an insured while occupying or through being struck by a land motor vehicle owned by the named insured or any resident of the same household, if such vehicle is not an insured automobile;

<u>Id</u>. at 231.

This Court held that the exclusion was contrary to Florida Statute §627.0851, the then-existing UM statute.

This Court explained that the UM statute provided that no automobile liability policy shall be issued with respect to any

² This definition appears in the UM section of the policy. The opinion did not reference a definition appearing in the liability portion.

motor vehicle registered or garaged in Florida unless coverage was provided therein "in not less than the limits described in §324.021(7), Florida Statutes. ... for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness or disease ... " Id. at 232. This Court explained that the term "persons insured" thereunder in an automobile liability insurance policy as contemplated by Chapter 324, Florida Statutes, the Financial Responsibility Law, ordinarily were the owner or operator of the automobile, his spouse and other members of the family resident in the household and others occupying the insured automobile with the owner's permission. As to those persons, they were protected by the policy from liability to others due to injuries they inflicted by their negligent operation of the automobile. Reciprocally, those same persons were protected by the uninsured motorists statute in the same policy from bodily injury caused by the negligence of uninsured motorists.

This Court stated that automobile liability insurance coverage obtained in order to comply with or conform to the Financial Responsibility Statute, after an insured's first accident, could not be narrowed through exclusions which were contrary to law. The same was true as to the Financial Responsibility Law's counterpart, the uninsured motorists statute. After reviewing the case law from around the state and the country, this Court described its holding as follows:

... Uninsured motorists coverage prescribed by Section 627.0851 is statutorily intended to

provide the reciprocal or mutual equivalent of automobile liability coverage prescribed by the Financial Responsibility Law, i.e., to say uninsured motorist coverage where an negligently inflicts bodily injury or death upon a named insured, or any of his family relatives resident in his household, or any lawful occupants of the insured automobile covered in his automobile liability policy. To achieve this purpose, no policy exclusions contrary to the statute of any class of family insureds are permissible since the uninsured motorist coverage is intended by statute to be uniform in standard motor vehicle accident liability insurance for the protection of such "if the insured insureds thereunder as motorist had carried the minimum limits" of an automobile policy." [citations omitted].

Id. at 237-238.

This Court concluded that as to the first class of insureds, those required to be insured under the Financial Responsibility Statute and reciprocally, under the uninsured motorists statute, they were entitled to protection whenever or wherever bodily injury was inflicted upon them.

In <u>Valiant Insurance Company v. Webster</u>, 567 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 1990), this Court succinctly stated the analytical principle to be applied in such a determination as follows:

Since our decision in Mullis, the courts have consistently followed the principle that if the liability portions of an insurance policy would be applicable to a particular accident, uninsured motorist provisions would the whereas, if the applicable; likewise be liability provisions did not apply to a given accident, the uninsured motorist provisions of that policy would also not apply (except with occupants of the insured respect to Auto-Owners Insurance E.G., automobile). Company v. Queen, 468 So.2d 498 (Fla. 5th DCA Auto-Owners Insurance 1985); Company v. Bennett, 466 So.2d 242 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); France v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company,

380 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980).

Likewise, the <u>Valiant</u> court once again emphasized the words "persons insured" as used in the UM statute, are the same persons who are insured under the liability policy required by the Financial Responsibility Law. Id. at 410.

Reading Fla. Stat. §627.727 (UM coverage), in para material with Chapter 324, Fla. Stat. (liability coverage), is not a new idea. Florida courts have long read the statutes together to determine issues relating to UM coverage. See, Fischer v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 495 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), upholding an UM exclusion for accidents outside of the United States, in reliance upon Mullis ("[i]t appears then, that interstices in the uninsured motorist statute are, by legislative design to be filled by the particulars of the more specific Financial Responsibility Law. The minimum requirement of the latter - persons covered, monetary amount, definitions of insured vehicle, and territorial restrictions - are to be read into the former [emphasis original].") In fact, the earliest version of the UM statute makes specific reference to Chapter 324, Fla. Stat.. See, Fla. Stat. §627.0851 (1961).

<u>Florida Statutes</u> §324.151 identifies those provisions which are required to be included in insurance policies which are issued to satisfy the statute. <u>Florida Statutes</u> §324.151(1)(a) requires the owner's policy to designate all motor vehicles with respect to which coverage is granted. Further, the statute requires that the policy insure the owner named therein and any permissive operator

of the identified motor vehicles against loss from liability imposed by law for damages arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of those motor vehicles. <u>Florida Statutes</u> §324.151(b) requires such a policy to insure the person named within the policy against loss from the liability imposed upon him by law for damages arising out of the use by the named insured of any motor vehicle which is not owned by him within the territorial limits described within the statute.

term re-emphasized that the "persons insured Valiant thereunder" as used in Fla. Stat. §627.727(1) are the same persons who are required to be insured under a liability policy issued pursuant to Fla. Stat. §324.151. That statute requires only that the named insured and permissive users be provides liability coverage for a specifically-designated (by explicit description) motor vehicle with respect to which the coverage is granted. The statute does not require an automobile liability insurance carrier to provide insurance coverage for any and all motor vehicles that the named insured may own or operate. Likewise, that statute does not require a liability carrier to insure all members of the named insured's household for purposes of liability coverage. It merely requires that an insurer provide coverage to the names insured and any permissive use of the specifically-identified and designated automobile. If the automobile liability insurance carrier is not required to provide liability coverage to all of the named insured's resident relatives for any and all motor vehicles that they may own or operate, a UM carrier is likewise not required to

provide UM coverage for any relative who may reside with the named insured for any and all motor vehicles they may be operating at the time they are injured.

This court did <u>not</u> hold in <u>Mullis</u> that all resident relatives of the named insureds were, as a matter of law, to be considered Class I insureds entitled to both liability and uninsured motorist coverage under any and all circumstances without regard to whether the Financial Liability Law or the clear terms of the policy provide such broad coverage. Courts applying <u>Mullis</u> have recognized this fact.

In <u>France v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Company</u>, 380 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), the court held that <u>Mullis</u> did not require the carrier to provide UM coverage to claimant Denise France who was residing with her parents, who carried insurance with Liberty Mutual. The subject policy identified the insureds as follows:

Persons insured under the uninsured motorist coverage, the following are insureds:

a) the named insured and any relative.

Definitions ... "relative" means a person related to the named insured by blood, marriage, or adoption, who is a resident of the same household, provided neither such relative nor his spouse owns a private passenger automobile;

<u>Id</u>. at 1156 n.1. The Third District held that France was not entitled to UM coverage because she owned her own vehicle insured under a separate policy and therefore did not come within the policy definition of an insured.

In <u>Dairyland Insurance Company v. Kriz</u>, 495 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), the court also held that a relative of the named insured residing in the household of the named insured was not entitled to coverage under the UM provision of the named insured's policy where the "insured" was defined as a named insured, his or her spouse, and resident members of the family who do not own a vehicle. Accordingly, a resident relative of the named insured who did in fact own a motor vehicle was outside of the definition of "insured," and the insurance company could properly exclude UM coverage for such relatives.

The Court stated:

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