IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 81,691

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

SUSAN GAIL JENKINS,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PERSE, P.A. & GINSBERG, P.A. and NANCE, CACCIATORE, SISSERSON ET AL 410 Concord Building Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-0427 Attorneys for Respondent

# TOPICAL

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

JENKINS contends that:

- 1. She is covered by the basic liability coverage provisions contained in the GEICO policy. At the very least the policy is ambiguous in this regard and the ambiguity must be construed in JENKINS' favor.
- 2. Since JENKINS is insured under the basic liability provisions, GEICO cannot, as a matter of Florida law, exclude her from coverage in the uninsured motorist coverage section of the policy.
- 3. Alternatively, the 1987 amendment to the Florida uninsured motorist law, Section 627.727(9), Florida Statutes, required that GEICO obtain a selection in writing of the particular exclusionary language relied upon by GEICO to deny coverage to JENKINS.

# ARGUMENT<sup>1</sup>

#### POINT I

UNDER FLORIDA LAW THE UNINSURED MOTORIST EXCLUSION CONTAINED IN THE SUBJECT POLICY IS INVALID AND UNENFORCEABLE.

#### POINT II

THE 1987 AMENDMENT TO THE UM STATUTE INVALIDATES THE UM EXCLUSION CONTAINED IN THE SUBJECT POLICY.

A.

## PREFACE

The eventual decision here <u>may</u> be controlled by the decision(s) to be rendered by this Court in: NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INS. CO. v. PHILLIPS, 609 So. 2d 1385 (Fla. 5 DCA 1992), Supreme Court Case No. 80,986; and/or WELKER v. WORLDWIDE UNDERWRITERS' INS. CO., 601 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 4 DCA 1992), Supreme Court Case No. 80,478. The cases will be argued before this Court on the merits on October 5, 1993.

JENKINS adopts as her own argument:

- 1. The opinions rendered by the District Court of Appeal,
  Fourth and Fifth Districts, in PHILLIPS and WELKER, supra;
- The arguments by the insureds in PHILLIPS and WELKER, supra; and
- 3. The arguments advanced by amicus Florida Academy of Trial Lawyers in the case at Bar.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The points involved will be argued together.

# APPLICABLE LAW--RE: CONSTRUCTION OF INSURANCE POLICIES

Under Florida law the construction to be placed upon an insurance contract is a question of law to be resolved by the court and not an issue of fact to be determined by the jury. E.g., JONES v. UTICA MUTUAL INS. CO., 463 So. 2d 113 (Fla. 1984); GAULDEN v. ARKWRIGHT-BOSTON MFG'S MUT. INS. CO., 358 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 3 DCA 1978); WILLIS v. WILLIS, 245 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 1 DCA 1971); and cases cited therein. Assuming arguendo construction of an insurance contract is required, the following principles are well established:

- 1. An insurance policy should receive reasonable, practical and sensible interpretation consistent with the intent of the parties—and the dominant purpose of insurance—not a strained, forced or unrealistic interpretation. E.g., UNITED STATES FIRE INS. CO. v. PRUESS, 394 So. 2d 468 (Fla. 4 DCA 1981); AMERICAN MANUFACTURERS MUT. INS. CO. v. HORN, 353 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 3 DCA 1978); UNITED STATES FIDELITY & GUARANTY CO. v. HAZEN, 346 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 2 DCA 1977); and numerous cases cited thereat.
- 2. The language used in an insurance policy should be read in the light of the skill and experience possessed by ordinary people and resort should not be made to uncommon meanings nor to contextual distortion. See STEWART v. STATE FARM MUT. INS. CO., 316 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1 DCA 1975); and

FONTAINEBLEAU HOTEL CORP. v. UNITED FILIGREE CORP., 298 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 3 DCA 1974).

- 3. Contracts of insurance must be construed liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer and that interpretation which will sustain coverage must be adopted. RABATIE v. U.S. SECURITY INSURANCE CO., 581 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 3 DCA 1991), cert. dis., 589 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 1992); CERON v. PAXTON NAT. INS. CO., 537 So. 2d 1090 (Fla. 3 DCA 1989); HERRING v. FIRST SOUTHERN INS. CO., 522 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1 DCA 1988); see TROPICAL PARK, INC. v. U.S. FIDELITY & GUARANTY CO., 357 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 3 DCA 1978), and cases cited therein.
- 4. A policy may not give a right in one section thereof and retract it in another unless the limitation is clearly expressed, and, where such provisions are repugnant and one provision is general in nature and the other specific, the specific provision governs. TIRE KINGDOM, INC. v. FIRST SOUTHERN INSURANCE CO., INC., 573 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 3 DCA 1991), cert. den., 589 So. 2d 290 (Fla. 1992); FONTAINEBLEAU HOTEL CORP. v. UNITED FILIGREE CORP., 298 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 3 DCA 1974); see also--MOORE v. CONNECTICUT GENERAL LIFE INS. CO., 277 So. 2d 839 (Fla. 3 DCA 1973); and HORTON v. AMERICAN HOME ASSUR. CO., 245 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 3 DCA 1971). In TIRE KINGDOM, INC. v. FIRST SOUTHERN INSURANCE CO., INC., supra, this court, in this regard, stated and held:

\* \* \*

"We find there was coverage under the insurance policy even though there were conflicting provisions that created an ambiguity concerning the question of

coverage. An insurance policy cannot grant rights in one paragraph and then retract the very same rights in another paragraph called an 'exclusion'. Moore v. Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, 277 So. 2d 839 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), cert. denied, 291 So. 2d 204 The policy in this case attempts to (Fla. 1974). provide coverage for certain advertising activities and then exclude those same activities. inconsistencies must be resolved in favor of the insured, Id. at 842, as liability limiting exclusions are interpreted strictly against the insurer and liberally in favor of the insured. Poole v. Travelers Insurance Company, 140 Fla. 806, 179 So. 138 (1937); Oliver v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company, 309 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 2d DCA), cert. denied, 322 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 1975). Inconsistent language in a liability policy requires the adopting of the construction that will afford the most coverage. Id. at 238."

C.

#### APPLICABLE LAW--RE: UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE

In LEWIS v. CINCINNATI INSURANCE CO., 503 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 5 DCA 1987) the court squarely held that where resident in household relatives were included as covered in the basic liability coverage provisions of the involved policy, they could not be restricted to a special class of vehicles and the insurer could not, pursuant to a policy exclusion contained in the uninsured motorist provisions of the policy, deny coverage to such a family member for injuries suffered while occupying a motor vehicle owned by a family member, but not insured under the policy. The Court reasoned as follows:

\* \* \*

"As analyzed succinctly in Auto-Owners Insurance Company v. Bennett, 466 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), the basic issue in such cases is whether the family member is entitled to 'basic liability coverage' under the insurance policy involved. In Bennett, like this case, the family member was covered for liability while driving a car owned by his father, which was

scheduled in the policy; although he was excluded from liability as well as uninsured motorist coverage when driving or in an automobile not owned by the insured. Bennett held that the first provision was controlling in determining whether or not the family member had basic liability coverage, and therefore under Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 252 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 1971), it was not permissible for the insurance company to restrict or limit uninsured motorist coverage.

"Mullis held that a family member who was covered under the liability portion of the policy could not be restricted or limited in the policy's uninsured motorist coverage to injury occurring in certain vehicles. In Mullis, the exclusion sought to deny uninsured motorist coverage to a resident relative of an insured, while occupying a vehicle owned by the relative or the insured, which was not insured under the policy. The court held that the exclusion was invalid under this state's public policy. If resident relatives are covered under the liability provisions, they must be covered by the uninsured motorist section.

"'They may be pedestrians at the time of such injury, they may be riding in a motor vehicle of others or in public conveyances and they may occupy motor vehicles (including Honda motorcycles) owned by but which are not 'insured automobiles' of named insured.'

Id. at 233. Mullis is apparently still the controlling authority in this state, despite recent and interim statutory changes and rewording."

Accord--NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INS. CO. v. PHILLIPS, supra; WELKER v. WORLDWIDE UNDERWRITERS INS. CO., supra; AUTO-OWNERS INSURANCE CO. v. BENNETT, 466 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 2 DCA 1984); and AUTO-OWNERS INSURANCE CO. v. QUEEN, 468 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 5 DCA 1985); cf.--GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE CO. v. WRIGHT, 543 So. 2d 1320 (Fla. 4 DCA 1980).

# APPLICABLE LAW--SECTION 627.727(9), FLORIDA STATUTES

Effective October 1, 1987, Section 627.727, Florida Statutes, was amended to include the following pertinent provisions:

#### \* \* \*

- "(9) Insurers may offer policies of uninsured motorist coverage containing policy provisions in language approved by the Department establishing that if the insured accepts this offer:
- "(d) The uninsured motorist coverage provided by the policy does not apply to the named insured or family members residing in his household who are injured while occupying any vehicle owned by such insureds for which uninsured motorist coverage was not purchased."

In connection with the offer authorized by this subsection insurers shall inform the named insured, applicant, or lessee, on a form approved by the Department of the limitations imposed under this subsection and that such coverage is an alternative to coverage without such limitations. If this form is signed by a named insured, applicant, or lessee, it shall be conclusively presumed that there was an informed, knowing acceptance of such limitations."

To the effect that insurers must comply with the provisions of this Act, see CARBONELL v. AUTOMOBILE INS. CO. OF HARTFORD, CONN., 562 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 3 DCA 1990).

E.

# LAW APPLIED

It is respectfully submitted that for the reasons which follow, the arguments advanced by GEICO are without merit and the summary final judgment appealed must be affirmed:

- 1. Under the terms and provisions of the subject policy of insurance JENKINS, a resident in household relative of BEAIRSTO, is included as an insured against liability by the basic liability coverage provisions of the GEICO policy. At the very least, the policy is ambiguous in this regard.
- 2. Since JENKINS is insured under the basic liability provisions of the subject policy, GEICO cannot, as a matter of Florida law, exclude her from coverage in the uninsured motorist section of the policy.
- 3. Any ambiguity in the basic liability provisions of the policy must be resolved in favor of JENKINS.
- 4. Alternatively, there is nothing contained in this record which would indicate that GEICO ever notified BEAIRSTO of the options available under the provisions of Section 627.727(9), Florida Statutes. It is stipulated that BEAIRSTO never gave GEICO a written selection of the particular exclusionary language relied upon by GEICO to deny coverage to JENKINS. This alternative argument may not be considered or determined by this Court in PHILLIPS and/or WELKER, supra.
- 5. GEICO'S analysis of the provisions of Section 627.727(9), supra, and the legislative intent underlying the amendment to the uninsured motorist law is purely and simply erroneous.

## CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that for the reasons stated herein, the decision sought to be reviewed must be affirmed.